
  

  
 
 
 

AMENDED AGENDA 
Zoning Board of Appeals 

Regular Meeting 
Monday, May 9, 2016 at 7:30 p.m. 

Community Center, Room B 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, Connecticut 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
ROLL CALL: 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

1. File #2015-11; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 322; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Variance 
from Section 3.4.E.2, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Accessory Structures; Reduction of side yard 
setback by seven feet for a 576 +/- square foot detached garage; Renata Maglietti, applicant; Renata 
and Russell Maglietti, owners 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 
 
1. File #2015-11; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 322; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Variance 

from Section 3.4.E.2, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Accessory Structures; Reduction of side yard 
setback by seven feet for a 576 +/- square foot detached garage; Renata Maglietti, applicant; Renata 
and Russell Maglietti, owners 

 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
1. Consideration of possible refund for File #2016-1; 20 Canton Springs Road; Assessor’s Map 35; 

Parcel 1640020; Zone I; Appeal the decision of the Zoning Enforcement Officer from the Observation 
of Violation regarding unapproved vehicular storage, dated January 15, 2016; Steven Lingenheld, 
applicant; Kings Highway Associates, LLC, owner 

 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
1. Approval of Meeting Minutes from March 14, 2016 and April 11, 2016 

2. Staff Report 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 



- 1 -

Exhibit List for:

File #2015-11; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 322; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Variance from Section
3.4.E.2, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Accessory Structures; Reduction of side yard setback by seven feet for a 576
+/- square foot detached garage; Renata Maglietti, applicant; Renata and Russell Maglietti, owners

List as of May 2, 2016

Drawings:

1. Sheet 1; Site Feasibility Plan; 137 Cherry Brook Road; Prepared for Russell Richardson; Prepared by Shannon
Engineering Associates, Inc.; dated 7/29/97

2. Sheet 2; Sanitary System Design; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Prepared for Mr. & Mrs. Maglietti; Prepared by
Shannon Engineering Associates, Inc.; dated 2/27/98

3. Sheet 3; Survey & Site Plan for Proposed Garage; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Prepared by Robert Hiza; Prepared
for Mr. & Mrs. Maglietti; dated 3/17/16

4. Sheet 4; Survey & Site Plan for Proposed Garage; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Prepared by Robert Hiza; Prepared
for Mr. & Mrs. Maglietti; dated 3/17/16; revised 4/19/16

5. Sheet 5; Subdivision Plan; 137 Cherry Brook Road; Prepared for Russell Richardson; Prepared by Nascimbeni
& Jahne Surveyors, P.C.; dated July 1997

Correspondence:

1. File #2015-11; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 322; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Variance from
Section 3.4.E.2, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Accessory Structures; Reduction of side yard setback by seven
feet for a 576 +/- square foot detached garage; Renata Maglietti, applicant; Renata and Russell Maglietti,
owners.

2. Copy of payment; check # 7546
3. Assessor’s card for 145 Cherry Brook Road
4. Aerial view of 145 Cherry Brook Road
5. Approval from the Farmington Valley Health District (2 pages); received on 12/29/15
6. Copy of the abutter notice, notifying them of the upcoming Public Hearing on 2/8/16
7. List of abutters
8. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning Regulations
9. 1998 Existing Building Location Survey
10. Copy of Certified Mail receipts
11. Email from the Weakley Family to Renee Narducci regarding the application; dated 1/8/16
12. Town of Canton legal notice
13. Proof of legal notice from the Hartford Courant; dated 1/21/16
14. Public hearing sign affidavit; dated 1/26/16
15. Property photos (11 total); submitted to the Land Use Office on 1/26/16
16. Agenda for the February 8, 2016 regular meeting
17. Email from Renee Narducci to applicant regarding outstanding items; dated 2/4/16
18. Public hearing notice of postponement; dated 2/8/16
19. Email from Renee Narducci to applicant regarding rescheduling of public hearing; 2/17/16
20. Agenda for the February 22, 2016 special meeting
21. Staff memo regarding the application; dated 2/22/16
22. Approved minutes from the 2/22/16 special meeting
23. Connecticut Noble Tree information
24. Consent for extension of statutory time (CGS, Chapter 8-7d) signed by Renata Maglietti; received by the Land

Use Office on 3/9/16
25. Consent for extension of statutory time (CGS, Chapter 8-7d) signed by Renata Maglietti; received by the Land

Use Office on 4/8/16
26. Letter from Peter Hiza to the Zoning Board of Appeals regarding the proposed garage; dated 4/8/16
27. Company brochure for Peter Hiza Builder, LLC; received on 4/22/16
28. Warranty Deed information; Volume 226; Page 284; received on 4/22/16
29. Letter from Peter Hiza to the Zoning Board of Appeals regarding the proposed garage; dated 4/19/16; received

on 4/22/16
30. Photo depicting proposed garage; received on 4/22/16























































































Archived:Monday, May 02, 2016 3:07:18 PM
From: TOWSTAR TOWING
Sent: Tue, 12 Apr 2016 14:07:43
To: Narducci, Renee
Subject: Re: 4-11-16 ZBA Meeting Agenda
Importance: Normal

I would like to request a refund of our $160.00 application fee for the Z.B.A meeting and also a copy of the
legal notice on their decision to uphold our appeal. Check should be made out to Kings Highway Assoc. L.L.C,
20 Canton Springs Rd and the legal notice can be emailed back to me. Thanks for your help. Steven
Lingenheld

Sent from my iPad

On Apr 6, 2016, at 9:43 AM, Narducci, Renee <RNarducci@TownofCantonCT.org> wrote:

Good Morning Mr. Lingenheld,

Here is the agenda for next week’s ZBA meeting.

Thank you,
Renee

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------
Renee Narducci
Land Use Coordinator
Town of Canton
P.O. Box 168
Collinsville, CT 06022
860-693-7856

<04-11-16 ZBA Regular Meeting Agenda.pdf>

mailto:towstar12@gmail.com


 - 1 - 

  
 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
Zoning Board of Appeals 

Regular Meeting 
Monday, March 14, 2016 at 7:30 pm 
Library Community Center, Room F 

40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, Connecticut 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Brainard called the Regular Meeting of March 14, 2016 to order at 7:30 p.m.  
 
PRESENT: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Guerry Dotson, Gary Adajian, Walter LeGeyt and Lucien Rucci 
(Alternate). 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Zoning Enforcement Officer Emily Anyzeski and Recording Secretary Jennifer Scott 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 
MODIFICATION TO THE AGENDA:  
 
MOTION:  Mr. Brainard moved that the agenda be modified so that File #2016-2; 146 Powder Mill Road 
under “New Business” is addressed prior to opening the Public Hearing. Mr. LeGeyt seconded the motion, 
which passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 
 
REMARKS BY CHAIR: None 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
1. File #2016-2;  146 Powder Mill Road; Assessor’s Map 25; Parcel 4310146; Zone I; Section 9.7, 

Motor Vehicle Location Approval, Used Car Dealer and General Repairer License; Collinsville 
Auto Repair, LLC, applicant; Sack Properties, LLC, owner 
 
Commissioners Seated: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Guerry Dotson, Gary Adajian, and Walter 
LeGeyt 
 
Michael and Jennifer Rindflesh of 152 Carpenter Rd, New Hartford, CT and owners of Collinsville 
Auto Repair, LLC were in attendance to present their application. Mr. Rindflesh stated that they have 
outgrown their current location and are looking to move to a new location at 146 Powder Mill Road. 
Although the property is zoned for Industrial, per Section 9.7.A.1, “In accordance with CGS Section 
14-54, the ZBA shall have the power and duty to determine location approval for dealing and/or 
repairing motor vehicles defined under CGS Section 14-1.”  The listed activity at this site will be auto 
repair, used car sales, and towing operations. 
 
Mr. Brainard stated that it appears that the applicants have completed all the necessary steps as 
required by the Land Use office. He also said that in 2010, a Special Permit was issued for this 
location for automotive use which would include a used car dealer’s license. He added that there are 
no other neighboring facilities that would make this location unsuitable for dealing or repairing motor 
vehicles. 
 



 - 2 - 

MOTION:  Mr. Brainard moved that the property located at 146 Powder Mill Road, Unit A be approved 
for a Used Car Dealer and General Repairer License for use by Collinsville Auto Repair, LLC. Mr. 
Adajian seconded the motion, which passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 

 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: Read by Mr. Brainard 

 
1. File #2016-1;  20 Canton Springs Road; Assessor’s Map 35; Parcel 1640020; Zone I; Appeal the 

decision of the Zoning Enforcement Officer from the Observation of Violation regarding 
unapproved vehicular storage, dated January 15, 2016; Steven Lingenheld, applicant; Kings 
Highway Associates, LLC, owner 

 
Commissioners Seated: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Guerry Dotson, Gary Adajian, and Walter 
LeGeyt 
 
Steven Lingenheld of 98 Morgan Road and Anthony Potamitis of 20 Canton Springs Road came 
before the Board to present their application. Mr. Brainard, Mr. Kerr, Mr. LeGeyt, and Mr. Adajian all 
stated for the record that they know Mr. Lingenheld, but not to the extent that it would influence their 
decision on this matter. Mr. Dotson said that he knows Mr. Potamitis but not to the extent that it would 
influence his decision on this matter.  
 
Ms. Anyzeski provided a brief history of the case for the group. She said that the Land Use office 
received a complaint on November 20, 2015 regarding concerns of an increased number of vehicles 
being stored on the grass at 20 Canton Springs Road. Ms. Anyzeski said she observed the site 
condition on November 24, 2015 and reviewed the applicable zoning regulations.  Pursuant to town 
regulations, both current and as far back as 1958, parking more than 5 motor vehicles and more than 
3 commercial vehicles is permitted in light industrial and industrial zones so long as site plan approval 
or a zoning permit is obtained. Ms. Anyzeski stated that the town does not have a site plan on record 
requesting or approving large quantity vehicular storage on the grass at this location. She said that 
unless vehicles were being stored there prior to 1958 in which case the use would be considered 
“grandfathered”, approval is required. She said that the earliest she could find photographic evidence 
of vehicular storage at the property was 2010. Ms. Anyzeski advised that she issued an “Observation 
of Violation” to Mr. Lingenheld to open a dialogue about the site condition. She said that she asked 
Mr. Lingenheld to provide her with evidence that might disprove a violation exists and to date he has 
not responded to that request. 
 
Mr. Lingenheld began by saying that he spoke with Mr. Ernie Smith, the son-in-law of the founder of 
M. Swift & Sons who previously owned the property in question. Mr. Lingenheld said that Mr. Smith 
told him that the grass lot was used as the main parking area for the Swift factory from 1955 to the 
late 1960’s when the parking lot was paved. He went on to list several other examples of how the 
grass lot has been used to park vehicles for dozens of years including Lobsterfest, Sam Collins Day, 
and other festivals. He stated that Canton Village Construction used the lot to park their construction 
equipment and said the area was rented to a fleet of airplane deicers. Finally, he said that the lot has 
had boats, trailers, and trucks parked there for approximately 15 years without any complaints. He 
said that the recent complaint came about after Kings Highway Associates leased the lot to a car 
dealership that is using the area to park their overflow inventory. He said his position is that 
historically, the grass area has always been utilized for parking and that there has been no change in 
use. Mr. Lingenheld added that Kings Highway Associates has resurrected this property from a state 
of vacancy and disrepair. He commented that they currently have five or six businesses leasing 
space at this building. 
 
Mr. Brainard referenced a site plan for the property that was issued to Towstar several years earlier 
when the property was still owned by M. Swift & Sons. Towstar is another company owned by Mr. 
Lingenheld that continues to lease space and operate at 20 Canton Springs Rd. Mr. Brainard asked if 
Towstar ever received permission from M. Swift & Sons, as the prior owner, to use the grass lot for 



 - 3 - 

parking. Mr. Lingenheld answered that it was assumed Towstar would use the grass lot for parking 
because it had always been used for parking. Therefore, he said that formal approval was not given 
or required. 
 
Ms. Anyzeski spoke saying that if cars were parking on the grass lot in 1955, she encourages the 
ZBA members to consider obtaining proof. She also said that town approval would be required 
pursuant to the regulations for any vehicle or special event parking at the location.  In her research, 
she said that the matter of special event parking had surfaced before and she found that the First 
Selectman at the time did not feel the need to enforce for one day events such as Lobsterfest and 
Sam Collins Day. The only means of enforcement would be a Notice of Violation which allows for a 
30 day timeframe for removal of any vehicles. She said although it lacks approval, they have received 
guidance not to enforce for these events because of the difficulty involved. Mr. Lingenheld replied that 
the cars there now are rotated on a very regular basis implying that no car on the lot is there longer 
than 30 days. Ms. Anyzeski replied that even if they are changed out, there are cars continually 
parked in the lot.  
 
Mr. Brainard asked Mr. Lingenheld if he thought that Mr. Smith would give him a notarized letter that 
states that cars were parked on the grass lot when M. Swift & Sons began operations back in 1955. 
Mr. Lingenheld stated that he is confident that he can obtain such a letter from Mr. Smith. Mr. 
Brainard explained that the regulation states that approval would be needed “before any land or 
structures are devoted to a new or changed use.”  He said if M. Swift & Sons was using the lot for 
parking prior to the 1958 regulations, there is no new or changed use. Mr. Brainard also said that he 
located a map from 1965 that was filed with the State that shows “things in rows” drawn in the area in 
question. Mr. Lingenheld commented that he believes the map is showing Swift trucks which 
contained surplus machinery from their Hartford location. 
 
Mr. Brainard clarified with Mr. Lingenheld that M. Swift & Sons ceased operations around 1976 and 
was storing items there until Kings Highway Associates purchased the property in 2008. Mr. Brainard 
asked Mr. Lingenheld if he had always been using the grass lot for parking since Towstar began 
leasing space at the property in 1998. Mr. Lingenheld replied that Towstar has been utilizing the 
grass lot for parking without interruption since he has been there. 
 
Next, Mr. Brainard asked if any members of the public wished to speak. 
 

 Dr. Richard Abraham has lived at 19 Pond Rd, a neighboring residence, since 1976. He said that 
back when M. Swift & Sons was still operating at the site, they were using organic industrial 
solvents that contaminated the surrounding air and ground. He said that the concern of the 
residents at the time was that the aquifer and surrounding well water would be contaminated also. 
He said that the concern now is not just about aesthetics but more so about the possibility of 
contamination of the ground water with transmission oil or other organic products associated with 
automobiles and trucks.  
 
Mr. Lingenheld responded that all of the cars stored there now are brand new making the 
chances of an oil spill unlikely. In addition, he said that even if the cars were parked on the 
asphalt and a leak happened to occur, a rainstorm would likely cause the oil to run into the grass 
anyway. He pointed out that the cars driving along Canton Springs Road could leak oil that could 
get into the aquifer as well. Mr. Lingenheld noted that before Kings Highway Associates 
purchased the property in 2008, there was a thorough environmental study completed where no 
issues were identified. He added that they are very vigilant about protecting the aquifer and 
keeping the property free from any environmental concerns. 
 

 David Evans of 30 Canton Springs Road is the abutting property owner to the south side of the 
site and has lived there since 1960. Mr. Evans spoke in favor of allowing the applicant to park 
cars on his grass lot. He said he thinks that Mr. Lingenheld has done a great job improving the 
property which had previously been foul-smelling and an eyesore in the neighborhood. He 



 - 4 - 

commented that Kings Highway Associates is a good neighbor and he does not find the cars 
being parked there intrusive or bothersome. 
 

 Teresa Barger of 8 Pond Rd started by saying she has no objection to special event parking at 
the site. She said that the applicant is in violation of the current regulations and feels it is 
irrelevant if cars have been parked on the lot all of these years.  
 
Mr. Brainard explained to Ms. Barger that M. Swift & Sons started using the property in 1956 
which was prior to zoning. He said that Kings Highway Associates is “grandfathered” because 
there has been no change in use at the property. Dr. Abraham spoke up saying that M. Swift & 
Sons had not had cars parked there since 1976 when the company ceased operations. Mr. 
Brainard replied that if there was equipment, vehicles, etc. on the grass, they did not abandon the 
use. There would have to be “intent to abandon” and at this point it does not appear there was. 
Ms. Anyzeski responded that the site would be considered pre-existing non-conforming if there 
were vehicles being stored on the grass lot prior to the 1958 regulations. However, there is no 
evidence to prove when vehicles actually began being parked there. 
 

 Michael Campbell of 9 Pond Road said that this is an issue of grave concern to the 
neighborhood. He urged the members to do what is “right” and considers the grandfather 
provision to be a technicality. He said that the residents would like to work together with 
neighboring businesses to resolve conflicts peacefully as they have done in the past. He asked 
that the members listen to and consider the residents’ concerns. 
 
Mr. Brainard stated that the ZBA acts as a quasi judicial body that makes decisions based on the 
law and the evidence presented. Mr. Rucci asked if Mr. Brainard could expound upon non-
conforming prior use statutes for the benefit of the record. Mr. Brainard explained that the CT 
state statute says that if you change regulations, you cannot prevent a person from continuing to 
do something they were doing prior to the regulation change. He added that pre-existing non-
conforming use remains with the property until such time as someone abandons that use. He said 
that unless there is “intent to abandon”, the use continues whether it conforms to today’s 
regulations or not. Mr. Brainard went on stating that if Mr. Smith’s letter says that cars were 
parked in the grass lot, more than likely that non-conforming use will be continued on to today. 
 

 Suzanne Gerber of 24 Pond Rd, an abutting property owner since 2005, shared her concerns 
about the parked vehicles contaminating the soil. She said that it is much more difficult to be 
vigilant about what might leak onto a grass surface versus a paved surface. She said that 
residents and businesses should follow the rules and that it concerns her that Kings Highway 
Associates will not submit for site plan approval with the town.  
 

 Ed Gabowski of 22 Pond Rd is an abutting property owner since 2002. Mr. Gabowski stated that 
no vehicles were being stored on the grass at the property for about 5 years up until 2009 / 2010 
when the automotive repair shop took occupancy. He shared his concern that the vehicles stored 
on the grass lot will kick up dust and dirt that will blow toward the neighboring landowners’ 
properties. He stated that in 2010, the town Planning & Zoning Commission required that all the 
tenants of 20 Canton Springs Road park their cars on paved surfaces. Mr. Gabowski said the 
applicant should obtain site plan approval pursuant to today’s zoning regulations if they wish to 
continue storing vehicles on the grass area. 
 
Ms. Anyzeski referenced a 1970 approved site plan for the property. She stated that it would be 
reasonable to assume that if the lot was being used for vehicle storage prior to the 1958 
regulations the subsequent 1970 approved site plan would indicate that existing non-conforming 
condition. The members did not necessarily agree arguing that it could have just been an error or 
oversight. 
 



 - 5 - 

Mr. Brainard directed Mr. Lingenheld to obtain a notarized letter from Mr. Smith stating that the 
grass lot in question was being used for vehicle storage prior to 1958 and submit the letter to the 
Land Use office prior to next month’s regular meeting.  

 
MOTION:  Mr. Brainard moved to continue the Public Hearing for File #2016-1; 20 Canton Springs 
Road to the April 11, 2016 regular Meeting. Mr. LeGeyt seconded the motion, which passed 
unanimously, 5-0-0.  

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS:  
 
1. File #2016-1;  20 Canton Springs Road; Assessor’s Map 35; Parcel 1640020; Zone I; Appeal the 

decision of the Zoning Enforcement Officer from the Observation of Violation regarding 
unapproved vehicular storage, dated January 15, 2016; Steven Lingenheld, applicant; Kings 
Highway Associates, LLC, owner – Continued to the next regular meeting on April 11, 2016. 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

1. Approval of Meeting Minutes from February 22, 2016 
 
MOTION:  Mr. Brainard moved to approve the meeting minutes from February 22, 2016 as presented. 
Mr. Dotson seconded the motion, which passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 
 

2. Staff Report – None 
 

AJOURNMENT:   
 
MOTION:  Mr. Adajian moved to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Zoning Board of Appeals at 8:55 
p.m. Mr. Kerr seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 
 
 
 



 - 1 - 

  
 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
Zoning Board of Appeals 

Regular Meeting 
Monday, April 11, 2016 at 7:30 p.m. 

Community Center, Room B 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, Connecticut 

 
 

CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Brainard called the Regular Meeting of April 11, 2016 to order at 7:30 p.m.  
 
PRESENT: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Gary Adajian, Walter LeGeyt, Lucien Rucci (Alternate) and 
Bob Celmer (Alternate). 
 
ABSENT: Guerry Dotson 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Zoning Enforcement Officer Emily Anyzeski and Recording Secretary Jennifer Scott 
 
Mr. Rucci was seated as a Regular Member by R. Brainard. 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 
MODIFICATION TO THE AGENDA: None 
 
REMARKS BY CHAIR: None 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: Read by Mr. Brainard 
 
1. File #2016-1;  20 Canton Springs Road; Assessor’s Map 35; Parcel 1640020; Zone I; Appeal the 

decision of the Zoning Enforcement Officer from the Observation of Violation regarding unapproved 
vehicular storage, dated January 15, 2016; Steven Lingenheld, applicant; Kings Highway Associates, 
LLC, owner 
 
Commissioners Seated: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Gary Adajian, Walter LeGeyt and 
Lucien Rucci 
 
Mr. Brainard stated that prior to the last meeting, he was not given enough time to sufficiently review 
the documentation related to this case. As a result, he said that he discovered two errors that he 
made. The first was that he learned the aerial map he used at the last meeting was not of the M. Swift 
and Sons factory, but of the cemetery to the north of the property. The second error was that the 
parking situation at 20 Canton Springs Road was characterized at the last meeting as having a 
possible pre-existing, non-conforming use. In reality, Mr. Brainard said that it has a possible pre-
existing use because when the 1958 regulations were adopted, the parking of more than 5 motor 
vehicles or more than 3 commercial vehicles was a permitted use at the property. The regulations at 
that time required a permit for this use, but it was in fact allowable. Pursuant to today’s regulations, it 
is still a permitted use so long as a site development plan is submitted through the Planning & Zoning 
Commission for their approval prior to getting a zoning permit. He said that the same question of 
whether more than 5 motor vehicles or more than 3 commercial vehicles were being parked at this 
property prior to zoning still remains.  



 - 2 - 

He added that if the ZBA finds that vehicle parking was not being done prior to zoning regulations, the 
applicant would have to submit a site development plan to Planning & Zoning, go through the 
approval process and be issued a permit. If they find it to be a pre-existing use, the owner may 
continue to park vehicles anywhere on the property with the exception of the area for AA Automatic & 
Brake. Mr. Brainard said that because they had considered the property to have a pre-existing, non-
conforming use, it was requested at the last meeting that Mr. Lingenheld obtain a letter from the prior 
owner stating what vehicles were parked on the lot prior to 1958. He said that Mr. Lingenheld 
submitted a notarized letter from Mr. Ernest Smith who is the son-in-law of the prior owner of M. Swift 
& Sons. The letter simply stated that cars were parked in the grassy lot on the southerly side of the 
property. Mr. Brainard then advised that Mr. Lingenheld brought with him this evening a second 
notarized letter from Mr. Smith dated March 30, 2016 which Mr. Brainard read aloud to the group. The 
letter was more detailed than the first and stated that the factory’s 15 to 20 employees began parking 
their vehicles in the grass lot south of the building beginning in the early 1950’s when the factory was 
built as this was the only available place for them to park. 
 
Steven Lingenheld of 98 Morgan Road and Anthony Potamitis of Winsted, CT came before the Board 
to continue with the presentation of their application. Mr. Lingenheld stated that to the best of his 
knowledge, Mr. Ernest Smith is the sole authority on the history of this property. He contested a photo 
of the property from 1959 that does not show cars parked in the area in question. Mr. Lingenheld 
argued that there are no cars parked anywhere in the photo which would be odd for a fully operational 
factory. He said that the conclusion he drew is that the photo was taken on a weekend or off hours 
when no one was there. Next, Mr. Lingenheld referenced a photo of the property taken in 1968. He 
said that while the photo does not depict any parked cars, a defined parking area and driveway can 
be seen as well as a pathway for employees to walk from their cars to the factory. Mr. Lingenheld 
reasoned that any car parked at the property would have to have been parked on the grass prior to 
the installation of a paved parking area in the early 1970’s. He added that because the 4.2 acre lot is 
contiguous, it does not matter in this case where on the property the vehicles were parked. Finally, 
Mr. Lingenheld rejected the concern that oil from the cars currently parked on his lot may leak into the 
soil saying it is unlikely because all of the vehicles are brand new. He added that they do not want the 
soil to be contaminated either which is why they go to great lengths to eliminate that risk. Mr. 
Lingenheld ended by reiterating that vehicles have continuously been parked on the property since 
the early 1950’s. 
 
Ms. Anyzeski informed the members that she is just learning of the second letter from Mr. Smith 
despite it being dated March 30, 2016. She stated that she as town staff and the public are entitled to 
have an opportunity to review new information as it becomes available. She commented that the 
second letter does provide more detail in comparison to the first letter that she considered somewhat 
vague. Ms. Anyzeski referenced the Google Earth aerial photographs she presented at the last 
meeting. As a result of the reliability and credibility of those photos being taken into question, she said 
she obtained several aerial photographs of the property between 1968 and 2012 from the Nationwide 
Environmental Title Research who partners with the United States Department of Agriculture and the 
United States Geological Survey. She also presented an aerial from 1959 from the Town Assessor’s 
office. Ms. Anyzeski stated that while it is reasonable to argue that some of the photographs could 
have been taken on a weekend or during off hours, it is unlikely that is the case for all 10 of the aerial 
photographs she has obtained.  None of them show cars parked in the area in question until 2012. 
 
Mr. Lingenheld countered that the aerial photographs of the property presented by Ms. Anyzeski are 
irrelevant as the question is whether or not vehicles were parked at the property before 1958. Ms. 
Anyzeski responded that if the members decide that there is insufficient evidence to prove vehicles 
were parked on the lot prior to 1958, the 2012 aerial supports that the property is in violation of zoning 
regulations as it shows cars parked there without approval. Ms. Anyzeski addressed concerns that 
the members had with the acceptability of the site plan she discussed at the last meeting that was 
originally dated 1971 and revised in 1993. Ms. Anyzeski stated that this site plan is the approved site 
plan the town has on file for 20 Canton Springs Road and it gives no indication that parking was ever 
approved in the area where cars are currently being parked. Mr. Lingenheld stated that since he 
began operations at the property in1990, he has always had cars parked on the grass. 



 - 3 - 

Mr. Brainard asked Ms. Anyzeski what concerns she has with Mr. Smith’s second letter and what she 
would have done had she received it earlier. She said she does not have concerns with the letter’s 
content but feels the public should have been given the opportunity to see it when it became 
available. Mr. Lingenheld said that unfortunately he only received the letter yesterday. 
 
Mr. Adajian raised the concern that none of the new aerials presented have a specified date or time. 
He said he cannot accept them as evidence without that information which may or may not prove if 
the photographs were taken on a weekday or weekend or before, during, or after work hours.  
 
Mr. Brainard stated that the permitted use stays with the property and that it does not come and go. 
Whether the use is utilized is immaterial. He said if vehicle parking was permitted at the property on 
the first day of zoning, it’s a permitted use today. He next asked if there were any members of the 
public who wished to speak in favor or against upholding the appeal.  
 

 Suzanne Gerber of 24 Pond Rd, an abutting land owner, asked if there were not any cars 
parked on the grass between 1959 and 2009, would it still be a permitted use according to 
the regulation. Mr. Brainard explained that if the property were characterized as having a pre-
existing non-conforming use and at some point there was intent to abandon that use, it would 
no longer be permitted. He added that in that scenario, it would also have to be proven that 
the use was abandoned. He reiterated that the property in this case is not a pre-existing, non-
conforming use. It is a pre-existing use that was permitted when zoning regulations were put 
in place. 

 
Ms. Gerber added that there must be concerns associated with parking more than 5 vehicles 
on a grass lot for today’s zoning regulations to require site plan approval. She added that she 
does not believe that the members are seriously considering the potential risks associated 
with this activity. Mr. Ricci explained that people can not be penalized retroactively if they are 
doing something that is permitted and then the regulations change. 

 

 Sandy Marinan of 6 Evens Dr spoke next against the applicant’s appeal. She said that when 
she purchased her property in 2005 she was informed by Town Hall that no more than 5 
vehicles could park on the grass lot at 20 Canton Springs Rd. Mr. Brainard said she must 
have been misinformed. Mr. Rucci read the 1958 regulation to Ms. Marinan that states that 
the parking of more than 5 motor vehicles or more than 3 commercial vehicles is permitted in 
that district. Ms. Anyzeski argued that it is permitted with a zoning permit which has never 
been issued for this location. 

 

 Glenn Barger of 8 Pond Rd said that he is concerned that the issue at the last meeting is no 
longer the issue at this meeting. He feels what is being ruled on has suddenly changed and is 
discouraged that there is a second letter being presented as evidence that the public has not 
had a chance to review. He stated that some of the members appear confused by the 
documentation related to this case which does not give him much confidence in their ability to 
rule at this time. He added that he does not think that Mr. Smith’s letter is adequate proof that 
cars were parked on the lot prior to 1958. 

 
Mr. Brainard responded that the only issue that has changed from the last meeting is that the 
property went from being viewed as pre-existing, non-conforming use to pre-existing use. 
Either way, they would have to determine whether vehicles were parked on the site prior to 
1958. Mr. Brainard asked Mr. Barger what it is that is contained in Mr. Smith’s second letter 
that he would like an opportunity to review. Mr. Barger said that it is not so much the content 
as it is the concern that the letter is coming in last minute and no one has had a chance to 
look at it. He stated that he does not feel it is appropriate for the commission to rule when the 
public has not had an opportunity to review all of the evidence. 
 



 - 4 - 

Ms. Gerber spoke saying that it would be nice for the interested members of the public to 
have an opportunity to present their evidence as well that may challenge the information 
included in Mr. Smith’s letter. Mr. Brainard said that they were given the 30 days between last 
meeting and tonight’s meeting to gather any relevant evidence. 

 

 Michael Campbell of 9 Pond Rd commented that he was disappointed by what he views as 
the members’ disrespectful attitudes toward the Zoning Enforcement Officer. He added that 
the preponderance of the evidence as presented in numerous aerials indicates that no 
vehicles were parked on the lot for 40 or 50 years. Mr. Brainard said that the members have 
a duty to scrutinize evidence presented by both Ms. Anyzeski and Mr. Lingenheld. He said 
that their intention was never to be disrespectful and regrets if it was interpreted in that way.  

 
Ms. Anyzeski pointed out that the aerial photographs she presented at tonight’s meeting were 
dismissed because they were not date and time stamped. She noted that the aerials she presented at 
the last meeting were dated but those were also dismissed as unreliable because they came from 
Google Earth. Mr. Rucci responded that none of the aerial photographs presented at this meeting or 
the last meeting are germane because of the corrected interpretation of the property having a 
conforming use versus a non-conforming use prior to 1958. Ms. Anyzeski countered that in her 
professional opinion, the property is non-conforming because sufficient evidence does not exist to 
prove that vehicles were parked on the lot prior to zoning. According to Ms. Anyzeski, the fact that 
vehicles are being parked there now and no permit has ever been issued makes it non-conforming.  
Mr. Brainard replied saying that if they find that the property did not have a pre-existing use, the 
owner would be in violation for not having a permit, but it would not make the use non-conforming 
because the use is allowed. 
 
While Mr. Brainard said that he believed the violation was for parking more than 5 vehicles on the lot, 
Ms. Anyzeski provided clarity stating that she issued the violation because the cars are being parked 
on an area that did not meet town standards for parking vehicles. Mr. Lingenheld said that from the 
early 1950’s to 1968 there was no paving on the property and the only place the cars could park was 
on the grass. Ms. Anyzeski agreed but then said paved parking was applied for on a portion of the 
property but not for the grassy lot. She added that the approved site plan that was issued when 
parking was applied for specifies the southern lot as grass with no indication that parking took place 
there. Mr. Lingenheld restated that in the 1950’s and 1960’s, the employees must have parked on the 
grass because there was no pavement during that time. 

 
Mr. Rucci referenced the 1970 map that is considered the approved site plan for the property. He 
noted that it specifically states that it is a layout showing building numbers in Canton and is not a site 
plan. Ms. Anyzeski said that it is the only map the town has on file for the property which therefore 
makes it site plan. 
 

 Royce Christensen of 4 Evens Dr said that he has lived at that location for 11 years and 
stated that until recently, he has never seen cars parked in the grassy lot with the exception 
of Lobsterfest.  

 
MOTION: Mr. Adajian moved to close the Public Hearing for File #2016-1; 20 Canton Springs Road. 
Mr. Kerr seconded the motion, which passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 

 
1. File #2016-1;  20 Canton Springs Road; Assessor’s Map 35; Parcel 1640020; Zone I; Appeal the 

decision of the Zoning Enforcement Officer from the Observation of Violation regarding unapproved 
vehicular storage, dated January 15, 2016; Steven Lingenheld, applicant; Kings Highway Associates, 
LLC, owner 

 



 - 5 - 

Commissioners Seated: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Gary Adajian, Walter LeGeyt and 
Lucien Rucci 
 
Mr. Brainard asked the members if they think that Ms. Anyzeski or the public has been denied 
anything by not getting to review Mr. Smith’s second letter prior to tonight’s meeting. He also wanted 
to know their general opinions about the case following the discussions that were had at the public 
hearing. 
 
Mr. Celmer said that he is familiar with the property and has parked there for special events. He 
commented that unfortunately the only pieces of evidence they have to work with to prove that cars 
were or were not parked at the property prior to zoning are Mr. Smith’s two notarized letters. 
 
Mr. LeGeyt and Mr. Adajian stated that they accept Mr. Smith’s second letter as sufficient evidence 
that cars were parked on the property prior to 1958. Mr. Kerr agreed adding that there was no 
pavement until the 1970’s so parking would have had to have occurred on the grass. 
 
Mr. Rucci stated that the only relevant evidence is the letter stating that there was a company at 20 
Canton Spring Rd from the early 1950’s and they parked their cars on site. He said that since parking 
more than 5 vehicles is a conforming use in that zone, evidence that explicitly excludes their ability to 
do so would have to be presented in order for them to lose it. He continued saying that in lieu of any 
counter evidence, there is no other recourse than to allow them to continue storing vehicles because 
the use predates zoning regulations.  
 
Mr. Brainard said that regardless if we were looking at a pre-existing non-conforming use or a pre-
existing use, they need the same information in order to come to a decision. He added that he does 
not feel that there is anything contained in the letter that could have been further researched. Mr. 
Rucci said that someone could conceivably have brought forward a notarized letter saying something 
different. Mr. Brainard said they had 30 days to bring forth that evidence. 
 
MOTION: Mr. Brainard moved that the appeal for File #2016-1; 20 Canton Springs Road; Kings 
Highway Associates, LLC be upheld. The information provided by the applicant in the form of a 
notarized letter from Mr. Ernest Smith dated March 30, 2016 is the only evidence provided in the 
affirmative that parking of five or more vehicles occurred at 20 Canton Springs Road prior to the 1958 
zoning regulations. No contradictory evidence pertaining to the use was presented. Parking of more 
than five vehicles may occur anywhere on the property with the exception of the area for File #288, 
Application #1275 as depicted on the map labeled Sheet L-3; Layout and Materials Plan; 20 Canton 
Springs Road; Prepared by LADA, PC; Prepared for AA Automatic & Brake; dated 1/12/10; revised 
3/31/10 which may have restricted parking on it. Mr. Adajian seconded the motion, which passed 
unanimously, 5-0-0. 
 

OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
1. Approval of Meeting Minutes from March 14, 2016 – This item will be included on the agenda for 

the next Regular Meeting. 
 

2. Staff Report 
a. New Policy Regarding Audio Recordings on the Town Website – Ms. Anyzeski informed the 

members that pursuant to a recent vote by the Board of Selectmen, as of April 4, 2016, the audio 
recordings for all applicable town agency meetings will be made available on the town website. 

 
AJOURNMENT:  
 
MOTION: Mr. Adajian moved to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Zoning Board of Appeals at 9:05 p.m. 
Mr. LeGeyt seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 


	Agenda
	File #2015-11
	Refund Request; File #2016-1
	March 14, 2016 Minutes
	April 11, 2016 Minutes

